

# The role of Psychological Flexibility; the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic for mental health outcomes among college students in Ireland.

Mairéad O' Farrell

19144075

Supervisor: Dr Conor Nolan

B.A. (Hons) in Psychology

National College of Ireland

14 March 2022

## Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: <u>Mairéad O' Farrell</u> Student Number: <u>19144075</u> Degree for which thesis is submitted: <u>Bachelor of Arts Honours Psychology</u> Title of Thesis: <u>Psychological flexibility; The Impact of the COVID-</u>

**19 Pandemic on Mental Health Outcomes for Third Level Students in** 

Ireland.

Date: 11/03/2022

## Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself	V
A. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.	
B. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.	V
<ul> <li>C. <i>Either</i> *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.</li> <li><i>Or</i> *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of</li> </ul>	
(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below)	$\checkmark$

#### Acknowledgements

I have been fortunate enough to have so many wonderful people in my life who have encouraged me continuously. Firstly, I would like to thank my amazing Mam for all of her kindness, support, and encouragement throughout my life. I do not know where life would have led me without your guidance, and I am forever indebted to you for your constant love and support. My partner Jonathan for giving me the push I needed to embark on this journey and listening to my struggles with kindness throughout; your love and support knows no bounds. My best friend and sister, Jennie, who has supported me and encouraged me throughout my life, your love and support is what helped me to get to where I am today, and I am forever grateful. My two brothers, Seán and Dan, thank you for always being there and encouraging me to be the best version of myself. Thank you for giving me all the love when I needed it most to my nieces and nephew. Thank you to my amazing friends and family who have encouraged and supported me throughout my life and my time at NCI, especially Margaret, Shawnice, Fiadh, James, Christina, Barry, Sarah, and Amanda.

I am forever grateful to all the staff at NCI who nurtured, supported, and encouraged me throughout my studies. I want to give a massive thanks to my supervisor Dr Conor Nolan whose patience, kindness, support, and passion for Psychology inspired me throughout my time at NCI and pushed me throughout the completion of my thesis. To Dr Michelle Kelly, thank you for your patience, support, and compassion throughout my time at NCI and Dr Amanda Kracken for reminding us to take care of ourselves throughout the stressful times. A huge thank you to all of the participants who gave up their time and brought my thesis to life.

Last but by far least, to my wonderful Dad Seán, who taught me so much in our fourteen years together, thank you for giving me the passion and determination needed to pursue this opportunity. Tá an ceann seo duitse, go deo I mo chroí.

#### Abstract

Aims: The current study investigated the impact of the COVD-19 Pandemic on mental health outcomes among third level students within Ireland. The study investigated the relationship between psychological flexibility, mental health and well-being, age and COVID-19 stress. The study investigated if psychological flexibility and COVID-19 stress were predictors of mental health outcomes while also investigating if students differed by gender and year of college with their COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes. Method: An online questionnaire was administered to participants (n = 90) via social media and required participants to answer four questionnaires: The Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT), The Covid-19 Student Stress Questionnaire (CSSQ), The Warwick- Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMBWS), and The Everyday Psychological Inflexibility Checklist (EPIC). Results: In contrast with previous research, results indicated that psychological flexibility strongly predicted adverse mental health and well-being outcomes. Results also indicated that students did not differ by year of college and gender in relation to their mental health and well-being or COVID-19 stress. Conclusion: Findings from the current study offer a greater understanding of the COVID-19 pandemic experience among the general population of third-level students in Ireland. Relationships between COVID-19 stress and adverse mental wellbeing indicate that the COVID-19 pandemic may have negatively impacted mental health. This study highlights the importance of research among college students during these challenging times, and future research should investigate the discrepancies found in the current study in contrast to previous literature.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction1
Restrictions and Transition to Online Learning2
Risk factors for Psychological Distress4
Psychological Flexibility as a Protective Factor
Overview of Literature Findings7
The Present Study7
Methodology9
Participants9
Measures
Demographic Questionnaire10
CompACT11
Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale12
Everyday Psychological Inflexibility Checklist12
COVID-19 Stress Student Questionnaire
Design
Procedure14
Ethical Considerations
Results17
Discussion27
Practical Implications
Strengths and Limitations

References	
Appendeces	

#### Introduction

The World Health Organization declared the Coronavirus outbreak a global pandemic on March 11, 2020 (Radi et al., 2020). The Coronavirus (COVID-19) is an acute respiratory disease transmitted by contact or inhalation of droplets from an infected individual (Singhal, 2020). The COVID-19 virus creates a possible threat to the physical health of an individual. Equally, mental health can also be impacted by the sudden changes within society, such as the implementation of lockdowns and isolation measures required to prevent exposure to the virus (Cao et al., 2020; Zhong et al., 2021). Lockdowns imposed within society required mandatory home confinement except for essential services, including food shopping and exercise (Roques et al., 2020). Individuals who were potentially exposed or displaying symptoms of the Coronavirus were advised to isolate themselves from loved ones and social supports. Isolation and lockdown measures necessary to mitigate the spread of the virus can negatively affect mental health as individuals may experience fear over health status, boredom, and frustration in response to the perceived loss of freedom (Brooks et al., 2020). The uncertainties within society caused by a health crisis such as the COVID-19 Pandemic can create fear among individuals as there is a continuous threat to safety within the environment (Avery, 2017). Due to the highly infectious rate of the virus, the closures of institutions such as college campuses were enforced throughout the world to uphold the safety of individuals (Cucinotta & Vanelli, 2020). Previous literature has suggested that social distancing and isolation measures can increase the likelihood of developing psychological disorders such as depression, anxiety, and psychotic symptoms (Holt-Lunstad et al., 2015; McCracken et al., 2021). Research has suggested that student populations are more vulnerable to developing mental health difficulties due to pressure and stress associated with the high demands of third-level education (Brooks et al., 2020). It can be argued that the COVID-19 Pandemic has altered the daily lives of college students and has created further

vulnerability for mental health difficulties (Son et al., 2020). When the experience of fear is elevated for an extended period in a crisis, it can negatively impact mental health; therefore, research is essential to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on mental health and well-being among vulnerable populations such as third-level students (Zhong et al., 2021).

#### Restrictions and transition to an online environment.

Colleges campuses transitioned from traditional classroom learning to online learning in the spring of 2020 to ensure that students could continue their studies safely (Ali, 2020: Crawford et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2020). The lack of physical and social interactions with fellow students experienced during the transition to an online environment can negatively impact mental health and well-being (Burns et al., 2020). Although online learning reduces physical and social interactions among students, online learning can be a positive experience for individuals who prefer a flexible approach to academic studies (Kemp & Grieve, 2014). The transition to a virtual environment could facilitate and promote self-confidence for individuals who struggle with public speaking in a classroom among peers, promoting positive mental health outcomes (Almendingen et al., 2021). Mental health difficulties can be more evident among individuals who find it challenging to adapt to novel situations such as online learning, the unpredictability of societal restrictions and socialisation changes (Chen et al., 2020). Restrictions imposed to mitigate socialisation among individuals in different households were withdrawn and enforced continuously within Ireland to lessen the spread of the Coronavirus and protect the health service (Looi, 2020). The continuous altering of restrictions following health guidelines within Ireland could have caused significant anxiety surrounding the Pandemic as individuals, including third-level students, experienced uncertainty for extended periods (Chen et al., 2020; Kelly, 2021; Solé et al., 2021). The uncertainty of when life will return to "normal" can be suggested to evoke feelings of

helplessness, depression, and anxiety among individuals (Pierce et al., 2020; Wong et al., 2021).

Previous research has suggested no significant difference between classroom learning and online learning for students regarding the quality of learning (Shea & Bidjerano, 2014). However, the disruption to regular learning can result in a lack of motivation and interest in academia for third level students (Xu, & Jaggars, 2011). Numerous research studies have shown that third-level education students display higher psychological distress than the general population (Bayram, & Bilgel, 2008; Sharp & Theiler, 2018). Literature suggests that stress and pressure are significantly greater for college students than students currently in primary or secondary school (Gao et al., 2020). Research has also suggested that third-level students in Ireland are at a significantly higher risk of developing mental health difficulties than their age-matched peers who are not enrolled in third level education (Karwig et al., 2014; Union of Students of Ireland, 2019). Third level education students can be more vulnerable to psychological distress during their education as academic pressure, independent learning, continuous evaluation and financial burden can increase the risk of poor mental health outcomes within the student population (Adewuya et al., 2006; Blanco et al., 2008; Sharp & Theiler, 2018). Social support and social interactions among peers in third-level education can alleviate the pressures associated with the academic environment and promote positive mental health outcomes for an individual (Roudsari et al., 2005). Social support refers to the amount of care and support that an individual receives from individuals in their life, such as friends and family (Xiao et al., 2020). Relationships among peers and staff can support students in third-level education and can help to relieve the stress associated with college life (Hurst et al., 2012). If an individual does not have social support among peers within their life, particularly in third-level education, this can be a risk factor for mental health difficulties and psychological distress (Hefner & Eisenberg, 2009).

#### Risk factors for psychological distress.

Research conducted among a Chinese population identified potential risk factors for experiencing psychological distress during the Covid19 Pandemic, including gender, age, coping strategies and fear associated with the COVID-19 Pandemic (Qiu et al., 2020; Shen et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020). Research from historical pandemics such as the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) outbreak indicates that fear of contracting a virus can evoke feelings of helplessness (Cheng et al., 2006). Fear of contagion has been identified as a risk factor for psychological distress, increasing the likelihood of developing psychological disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Cheng et al., 2006; Mak et al., 2009). Previous research has concluded that females are more likely to develop significantly higher psychological distress levels than males after exposure to a stressful situation such as historical epidemics and pandemics (Gómez-Salgado et al., 2020; Pierce et al., 2020; Ritsner et al., 2001; Sareen et al., 2013; Tahara et al., 2020). In congruence, research has indicated that females reported experiencing significantly higher levels of psychological distress throughout the Covid19 Pandemic than males and were at greater risk of developing adverse mental health outcomes such as depression and anxiety (Zhu et al., 2020; Al-Hanawi et al., 2020; Elmer 2020; Wang & Zhao, 2020; Xiaoming et al., 2020).

Although research indicates that females are more susceptible to psychological distress, it can be argued that mental health stigma can account for the gender differences as males could be less likely to report mental health difficulties (Chatmon, 2020; Sagar-Ouriaghli et al., 2020). A meta-analysis conducted by Johnson & Whisman (2013) suggests that females are more likely to ruminate, increasing the likelihood of developing psychological disorders such as PTSD. Among the risk factors for the development of psychological distress during the COVID-19 Pandemic, age also poses a potential risk factor

for psychological distress (Rens et al., 2021). Research indicates that 18–30-year-olds and 60+-year-olds have displayed higher levels of psychological distress throughout the COVID-19 Pandemic (Lahav, 2020; Qiu et al., 2020). Research suggests that the COVID-19 Pandemic has significantly impacted young adults below thirty-five years old compared with older adults (Huang & Zho, 2020). Young adults generally consume more information and interaction through social media, contributing to the high prevalence of psychological distress as the overload of information could contribute to fear and anxiety surrounding the COVID-19 Pandemic (Cheng et al., 2014; Gao et al., 2020 Glowacz & Schmits, 2020). Contrary to these findings, research has also identified that older adults were more at risk of developing the Coronavirus and, therefore, isolated for more prolonged periods which can negatively impact mental health (Donovan & Blazer, 2020; Vernooij-Dassen et al., 2020; Wu, 2020).

Replacing physical interactions with solely virtual interactions and spending more time online due to imposed social confinement can provoke feelings of anxiety and stress for young adults (Glowacz & Schmits, 2020). Research has suggested that college students also experienced uncertainties and anxiety surrounding future educational and professional opportunities due to the societal changes implemented during the COVID-19 Pandemic (Huang & Zho, 2020). The year of college students are currently in has also been suggested to be a risk factor for mental health outcomes (Polychronopoulou & Divaris, 2005; Thiemann et al., 2020). The prevalence of depressive symptoms was higher among students in the fourth year of their undergraduate degree, 29% compared to third-year, 24%, second year, 21% and first-year 17% (Ge et al., 2020; Fu et al., 2021). Students in their final year of studies can experience significantly higher stress levels regarding final grades, possible postgraduate opportunities and career prospects that could be impacted by the COVID-19 Pandemic (Rabei et al., 2020). It is suggested that the uncertainty of future career opportunities after college has significantly impacted final year college students as a direct result of the economic disruption and altering of restrictions imposed throughout the Covid19 Pandemic (Elmer et al., 2020). Significant milestones such as graduation for final year college students were delayed, cancelled, or moved to an online platform due to the COVID-19 Pandemic (Sahu, 2020). Significant milestones such as the formal acknowledgement of graduating from third level education are of great importance for individuals as they celebrate their achieved goal (Wilt et al., 2016). The cancelled events, closure of college campuses and the disruption to daily routines can impact personal growth for an individual in third-level education (Hawley et al., 2021).

#### Psychological flexibility as a protective factor.

Due to restrictions imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic, regular routines have altered within society. The world has been impacted socially, economically, and psychologically (Kiliç et al., 2020). Previous literature surrounding historical virus outbreaks, particularly SARS, has indicated that mental health difficulties experienced during a pandemic can last for months or years after the experience has ended (Liu et al., 2012). Investigating modifiable processes can allow for appropriate interventions to combat psychological distress caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic, and moderating variables may influence the relationship between the experience of COVID-19 pandemic conditions and distress (Holmes et al., 2020). Psychological flexibility may be a moderating variable that can offer further understanding for individuals' reactions to the significant changes during the COVID-19 Pandemic (Browne et al., 2022). Psychological flexibility can be defined as accepting all sensations, including negative thoughts and feelings, while remaining focused and open to the experience in the present moment (Hayes 2009). Psychological flexibility promotes positive mental health and can reduce psychological distress by allowing the individual to fully experience all thoughts and feelings during challenging times while engaging in value-based behaviour (Gloster et al., 2017). It is believed that individuals who

are unwilling to adapt to the changing requirements during the COVID-19 pandemic and engage in rumination of negative thoughts can cause further psychological distress (Tindle & Moustafa, 2021). Psychological flexibility can mitigate the negative impact on mental health due to the COVID-19 pandemic and act as a protective factor to accept all feelings as a response to challenging times, preventing rumination (Pakenham et al., 2020). A systematic review has identified that psychological flexibility could reduce the formation of psychological disorders such as depression and anxiety, resulting in positive mental health outcomes (Prudenzi et al., 2022). Psychological inflexibility can occur when an individual is preoccupied with internal events such as thoughts and reasoning, while the behaviour is dominated by thoughts and behaviours that do not align with personal values (Thompson et al., 2019). Psychological inflexibility is often associated with psychological disorders such as anxiety, depression, and substance abuse (Levin et al., 2014). Psychological flexibility is not a fixed or solidified process and can be improved and taught through interventions such as Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) (Hayes et al., 2006). Psychological flexibility can be viewed as a protective factor for positive mental health during challenging times, and individuals can benefit from this skill with consistent practice by resisting the urge to ruminate after negative feelings or experiences (Gloster et al., 2021; Shepherd et al., 2022).

#### **Overview of Literature Findings.**

The COVID-19 Pandemic has undoubtedly had a significant impact worldwide, and further research is needed to investigate the specificity of the psychological impact (Saladino et al., 2020). To date, there has been limited research that has investigated the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic for third level students within Ireland. Research has predominately focused on specific vulnerable groups such as individuals with existing mental health difficulties, frontline workers, and individuals with less economic and social resources (Ali et al., 2020; Burke et al., 2020; Gavin et al., 2020; O'Connor et al., 2020). Research among

third level students in Ireland has also focused on specific subgroups of the student population, including business students and medical students (O'Byrne et al., 2020; Son et al., 2020). Therefore, research is essential to provide more insight into the general population of third-level education students and address this gap in the current literature.

#### The Present Study.

This research study aims to investigate the impact of the Covid19 Pandemic on mental health outcomes among the general population of third-level education students in Ireland. The current study aims to identify if psychological flexibility, gender, and year of college are predictors of mental health outcomes among third level students in Ireland. Psychological flexibility has not been investigated among college students within Ireland as a moderating variable concerning the response of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Literature has identified the importance of modifiable processes when dealing with novel situations such as the COVID-19 Pandemic (McCracken et al., 2021). Research suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in more significant psychological distress, but it is crucial to determine whether this is a universal experience (Varma et al., 2021). It is also crucial to examine factors that may mediate the relationship between COVID-19 stress and mental health. The research questions that will be addressed are: Is there a relationship between psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress, and mental health? Is there a relationship between age, COVID-19 stress, psychological flexibility and mental health and well-being? Do psychological flexibility and COVID-19 stress predict mental health outcomes in Third level students, and lastly, do students differ by year and gender in relation to their COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes. The hypothesis formulated by the research questions are as follows, (1) there will be a relationship between psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health,(2) there will be a relationship between age, psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being, (3) psychological flexibility will predict mental

8

health outcomes in third level students and lastly (4) there will be a significant difference between year groups and genders in their COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes.

#### Methodology

#### **Participants**

The research sample for the current study was selected using non-probability sampling. The target population were third level education students studying in Ireland. Per sample size calculations provided by G-Power analysis, 54 participants were required to achieve a large effect size among the population and reduce the possibility of a Type 1 error (Faul et al., 2007). Participants were recruited using convenience and snowball sampling. A recruitment poster (Appendix A) was posted on the researcher's social media accounts (Facebook and Instagram) which outlined the study's brief description and requirements for participants to the survey. Friends were encouraged to share the survey with friends on social media to recruit eligible participants. NCI students were also invited to participate in the study via Microsoft Teams.

Ninety participants above 18 were initially recruited for the research study. One participant identified as "other" within the gender demographic information and, therefore, was excluded from the analysis as they were not represented across the sample. The final sample for the study included 89 participants (Females including trans females = 61, Males including trans males = 28) with a mean age of 29 years old (SD = 10.42) with ages of participants ranging from 18-59. Participants were also assigned to different years of college. Of the sample, 12.2% of participants were first-year students, 38.9% were second-year students, 36.7% were third-year students, and 12.2% were fourth-year students.

#### **Measures/Materials**

Participants were required to complete five questionnaires in an online format (Demographic, The Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy process (Compact), Warwick- Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEBMWS), The Everyday Psychology Inflexibility Checklist (EPIC) and the COVID-19 Student Stress Questionnaire (CSSQ). The online survey was hosted on Google Forms. Data collected from participants were stored in a secure format on the researcher's password-protected laptop. Internet connection and a device to access the questionnaire were required for participation in the study.

#### **Demographic Questionnaire.**

Participants were initially required to complete the demographic questionnaire when participation in the study commenced (Appendix B). Participants were required to provide demographic information, including gender, age, and their current year of college (first, second, third or fourth).

#### **Psychological flexibility**

The Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT) scale (Appendix C) investigated psychological flexibility (Frances et al., 2016). The CompACT scale is a 23-item scale and investigates core components of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT). The CompACT scale investigates three core components of ACT: 'openness to experience', 'valued action' and 'behavioural awareness'. There are three subscales within the CompACT scale, items 1,2,3,4,5,6,7,8,10 and 21 aim to measure 'Openness to Experience' with internal reliability ( $\alpha = 0.84$ ), items 13,14,15,16,17,18,19,20 aim to measure 'Valued Action' with internal reliability ( $\alpha = 0.89$ ) and items 9,11,12,22 and 23 aim to measure 'Behavioural Awareness' with internal reliability ( $\alpha = 0.90$ ). Questions include "I tell myself that I should not have certain thoughts". Items within the scale are scored on a 7-point Likert scale with 0 = meaning 'strongly disagree' and six = meaning 'strongly

agree'. Scores range from 0 to 138, and higher scores on the scale indicate greater levels of psychological flexibility. Reverse scoring is used to infer psychological flexibility by reverse scoring the negatively phrased items (7, 10, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20 & 21) within the CompACT-8 scale. Cronbach's alpha scores for the total scale from previous studies indicate acceptable internal reliability ( $\alpha = 0.73$ ) and validity (Dawson & Golijani-Moghaddam, 2020). Cronbach's alpha score for the present study was ( $\alpha = 0.89$ ).

#### Mental health and well-being

The Warwick- Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMBWS), see (Appendix D), was used to investigate participants' mental health and well-being (Tennant et al., 2007) and is a 14-item scale. The (WEMBWS) is a preferable scale compared to the abbreviated version (SWEMBWS) for measuring mental well-being among individuals within the population (Koushede et al., 2019). The abbreviated version (SWEMBWS), a 7-item scale, has been criticised as it presents a more restricted view of mental well-being than the 14-item scale (Stewart-Brown et al., 2009). The scale assesses mental well-being's emotional, cognitive, functional, and social components. Questions within the scale include "I feel optimistic about the future". Items within the WEMBWS scale were scored on a 5-point Likert scale, with one = meaning 'none of the time' and five = 'all of the time'. Scores range from 14 to 70, with higher scores indicating greater mental health and well-being. Cronbach's alpha scores indicate good internal reliability ( $\alpha = 0.85$ ) and construct validity (Rogers et al., 2018). Cronbach's alpha score for the current sample was ( $\alpha = 0.92$ ), indicating excellent internal reliability.

#### **Psychological inflexibility**

The Everyday Psychological Inflexibility Checklist (EPIC) scale (Appendix E) investigated psychological inflexibility among participants. The EPIC scale is a 7-item scale, and participants were asked to rate their answers in the context of everyday life. The EPIC scale measured psychological inflexibility factors such as avoidance and behavioural rigidity.

Questions 1, 3, 5, 7 aim to measure the component 'Avoidance' and questions 2, 4, 6 aim to measure the component 'Behavioural Rigidity'. Questions within the EPIC scale include items such as "If unpleasant situations come to mind, I think about something else". Items within the scale are rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1= 'never true' and 7= 'always true'. Scores range from 1 to 49, and higher scores indicate greater levels of psychological inflexibility (Thompson et al., 2019). Cronbach's alpha scores indicate respectable reliability ( $\alpha = 0.75$ ) (Thompson et al., 2019). Cronbach's alpha score for the current sample was ( $\alpha = 0.78$ ), indicating acceptable internal consistency levels.

#### **COVID-19 stress**

The Covid-19 Student Stress Questionnaire (CSSQ) investigated perceived stress during the Covid-19 Pandemic among third level students (Appendix F). This scale was specifically designed to evaluate third-level education students' perceived stress during the Covid-19 Pandemic and assesses fear of contagion, economic consequences, xenophobia, compulsive checking, reassurance seeking and traumatic stress symptoms (Zurlo et al., 2020). Questions within the (CSSQ) scale include items such as "How did you perceive the risk of contagion during the Covid19 pandemic?". The scale consists of 7 items on a 5-point Likert scale with items ranging from zero to four. 0= indicates "not at all stressful", and four indicates "extremely stressful". Scores range from 0 to 28, and higher scores indicate greater levels of perceived stress. Cronbach's alpha score indicate respectable reliability ( $\alpha = 0.71$ ) (Zurlo et al., 2020). Cronbach's alpha score for the current sample was ( $\alpha = 0.84$ ), indicating a high internal consistency level. One question in the CSSQ was left out of analysis "How did you perceive the changes in your sexual life during the Covid19 pandemic?" This could have influenced Cronbach's alpha score.

#### Design

A Cross-Sectional within subject's design was selected for this study. Data were collected from participants to identify the impact of the Covid19 Pandemic, and all participants within the research study were required to answer the same questions. The research design was selected to investigate if there was a relationship between age, psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being. The study aimed to investigate if COVID-19 stress, psychological flexibility and psychological inflexibility are significant predictors of mental health and well-being outcomes. The predictor variables in the study were psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility, and COVID-19 stress. The criterion variable in the study was mental health and well-being. The independent variables in this study are gender, year of college and age. The dependent variables within the study are COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being.

#### Procedure

Participants were invited to participate in the current study via social media (Facebook and Instagram). A brief text description about the current study accompanied the online post, which informed potential participants that the questionnaire was independent research for an undergraduate programme, how long the questionnaire would take to complete (ten minutes) and the anonymity nature of the research. Eligible participants were instructed to click the URL link or scan the QR code provided online, which brought the participant to the google form document that contained a self-report anonymous questionnaire. Participants were advised to read the information sheet (Appendix G), which outlined the nature of the research study, requirements for participation and any possible risks associated with the research study. Informed consent was required from participants before participants, demographic information was then obtained from all participants. Participants were advised that they could exit the questionnaire at any point without penalty prior to submission of data.

Participants were then required to complete the CompACT questionnaire, which assessed psychological flexibility and included twenty-three items. Followed by the WEMBWS scale, which assessed mental health and well-being and included fourteen items. A simple mathematical equation was then inserted after the WEMBWS scale to increase engagement (Appendix I). Participants were then required to complete the CSSQ scale, which assessed participants' perceived stress during the COVID-19 Pandemic and consisted of six items. Finally, participants were required to complete the EPIC scale, which assessed psychological inflexibility and consisted of seven items. Once participants had completed the questionnaire, a debriefing sheet (Appendix J) was displayed on the participants' screen. The debriefing sheet included contact details for the researcher and supervisor of the research study. Resources were also displayed for participants if they experienced any distress due to participation in the study and needed support from professional services.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The current study was conducted in accordance with ethical guidelines provided by the National College of Ireland and the Psychological Society of Ireland. Ethical approval for the research study was obtained on 29/10/2021 from the National College of Ireland's Psychology Department's Undergraduate Ethics Committee. The following ethical implications were considered for the research study.

An information sheet was displayed prior to participation in the research study and explained the nature of the research study. Informed consent was obtained and required from participants prior to participation in the study to ensure benevolence and protect the participants throughout the study. Participants were advised that they had the right to withdraw consent and data from the study prior to submission. Data were collected in an unidentifiable manner, and participants were made aware that the researcher would not have the option to retrieve personal data once answers had been submitted on the google doc form.

No identifiable information was collected from participants to ensure confidentiality and anonymity throughout the study. The researcher was the only person who had access to the data submitted to the Google Doc form. The Google Doc form was stored on the researcher's password-protected laptop. Participants were given sample questions that would be asked prior to participation in the study to inform participants of the nature of the study and minimise the risk of emotional distress. Participants were also advised that they could cancel out of the study at any point prior to submission of data if they experienced temporary distress. A debriefing sheet was displayed for participants at the end of the study and included telephone numbers for professional support systems if participants needed to seek support. Contact details for the researcher were also included in the debriefing sheet.

#### Results

#### **Descriptive statistics**

The sample for the current study had 90 participants with a mean age of 29 years old (range = 18 - 59, SD = 10.42). The study aimed to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on mental health and well-being among third level education students. As shown in Table 1, participants were assigned to gender (females including trans females, males including trans males and others). Of the sample, 67.8 % identified as female participants (n = 61) compared to 31.1% who identified as males (n = 28). One participant identified as "other" and represented 1.1% of the sample population. Participants were also assigned to their current year of enrolment within third-level education. Of the sample, 12.2% identified as a first-year college student (n = 11), 38.9% of participants reported being currently enrolled in second year (n = 35). Of the sample 36.7% identified as a third-year college student (n = 11).

### Table 1

Frequencies for the current sample on each categorical variable (Gender and college year),

(n = 90)

Variable	Frequency	Valid %
Gender		
Female	61	67.8
Male	28	31.1
Other	1	1.1
College year		
First	11	12.2
Second	35	38.9
Third	33	36.7
Fourth	11	12.2

The variables age, psychological flexibility, mental health and well-being, psychological inflexibility and COVID-19 stress were assessed for normal distribution and results are presented below in Table 2. Kolmogorov Smirnov tests of normality were used to identify the assumption of normality. Scores for variables Age (p = < .00), Psychological flexibility (p = .02) and COVID-19 stress (p = .02) suggests that there is a violation of the assumption of normality and the data are non-normally distributed for these variables. Scores for variables mental health and well-being (p = .20) and psychological inflexibility (p = .07) suggest that the data are normally distributed for these variables.

#### Table 2.

Descriptive statistics for continuous variables Age, psychological flexibility, mental health and well-being, psychological inflexibility and COVID-19 stress (n = 90).

Variable	M [95% CI]	SE	SD	Range
Age	28.61 [26.43, 30.79]	1.10	10.42	41
Psychological Flexibility	85.75 [81.51, 89.98]	2.13	20.09	100
Mental health & wellbeing	44.12 [41.73, 46.52]	1.21	11.44	49
Psychological inflexibility.	31.46 [29.87, 33.05]	.80	7.59	37
COVID-19 stress	14.87 [13.61, 16.14]	.64	6.04	24

Kolmogorov Smirnov tests of normality were conducted to identify normality for all variables reported in Table 2. All variables indicate normal distribution within the acceptable range of +2 and -2. However, the data appear to be quite positively skewed for the variable Age; it is within the acceptable range of +2 and -2.

Based on the histograms (Appendix K) evidence, Kolmogorov Smirnov tests of normality, it can be inferred that the assumption of normality has been violated, and the data are non-normally distributed for the variable Age. Based on the evidence (Appendix L), it can be assumed that the data is normally distributed for the variable's psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress, Mental Health and psychological inflexibility. Three outliers were identified within the data; however, scores were within the acceptable range of possible scores Analysis was conducted without the outlier scores, and results indicated no difference. Therefore, the three outlier scores were included in the final analysis.

The average score for the psychological flexibility scale was 66.66; high scores indicate more significant levels of psychological flexibility; this score indicates that the

sample in this study had high levels of psychological flexibility. The average score for the mental health and well-being scale was 44.12; high scores indicate greater mental health and well-being levels, the score for the current sample indicates that this study had moderate levels of mental health and well-being. The average score for the psychological inflexibility scale was 31.46; high scores indicate greater levels of psychological inflexibility; this score indicates that the sample in this study had moderate levels of psychological inflexibility. The average score for the COVID-19 stress scale was 14.87; high scores indicate greater levels of perceived COVID-19 stress; this score indicates that this study had low levels of perceived COVID-19 stress.

#### Inferential statistics.

#### Hypothesis 1.

A correlation matrix (Table 3) was conducted to investigate the relationships between psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health. A significant moderate positive relationship was identified between psychological flexibility and psychological inflexibility (r = .54, p < .001), as scores increased for psychological flexibility, scores increased for psychological inflexibility. There was a significant moderate positive relationship between psychological flexibility and COVID-19 stress (r = .49, p <.001). Individuals who scored higher in psychological flexibility scored higher in COVID-19 stress. There was a negative relationship between psychological flexibility and mental health and well-being (r = ..70, p < .001). As individuals scored higher in psychological flexibility, they scored lower in mental health and well-being. There was also a significant weak positive relationship between COVID-19 stress and psychological inflexibility (r = .38, p < .001). As individuals scored higher in COVID-19 stress, they scored higher in psychological inflexibility. There was also a significant weak positive relationship between psychological inflexibility. There was also a significant weak positive relationship between psychological inflexibility and mental health and well-being (r = .42, p < .001). As individuals scored higher in psychological inflexibility, they scored higher in mental health and well-being. See Table 3 below for reported figures.

#### Table 3.

Pearson product-moment correlations between variable psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility, mental health and well-being, and COVID-19 stress.

Variable	1.	2.	3.
1. Psychological Flexibility	-		
2. Psychological inflexibility	.54**	-	
3. COVID-19 stress	.49**	.38***	-
4. Mental health and wellbeing	70**	42**	44**
<i>Note: n</i> = 89.* p < .05; ** p < .01; *	*** p < .001		

#### Hypothesis 2.

A correlation matrix was conducted for analysis to address the second research question. As the data were non-normally distributed for the variable age (Appendix K), a non-parametric Spearman's Rho correlation coefficient analysis was conducted to investigate a relationship between the variables age and psychological flexibility COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being (Table 4).

There was a significant weak negative relationship between psychological flexibility and age (r = -.30, p = .004). As age increased, scores in psychological flexibility decreased. Analysis indicated no significant correlation between age and psychological inflexibility (r =-.05, p = .662). There was a significant weak negative relationship between age and COVID-19 stress (r = -.27, p = .010). As age increased, scores in COVID-19 stress decreased. There was also a significant weak positive relationship between age and mental health and wellbeing scores (r = .31, p = .003). As individuals scored higher in age, they also scored higher in mental health and well-being. The analysis identified a significant weak positive relationship between COVID-19 stress and psychological flexibility (r = .45 p < .001), as individuals scored higher in psychological flexibility, scores increased in COVID-19 stress. Analysis indicated a significantly strong negative relationship between psychological flexibility and mental health and well-being (r = .70 p < .001), as individuals scored higher in psychological flexibility, they scored lower in mental health and well-being. There was a significant weak positive relationship between COVID-19 stress and psychological inflexibility (r = .37 p < .001), as scores of COVID-19 stress increased, scores in psychological inflexibility increased. There was a significant weak positive relationship between psychological inflexibility increased, scores in mental health and well-being decreased. The analysis also indicated that there was a significant weak negative relationship between mental health and well-being and COVID-19 stress (r = ..42 p < .001), as scores in mental health and well-being between mental health and well-being increased, scores in COVID-19 stress decreased. See Table 4 below for reported figures.

#### Table 4.

Spearman's Rho correlation coefficient between variables age, psychological flexibility, psychological Inflexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being.

Variable	1.	2.	3.	4.	5
1. Age	-				
2. Psychological Flexibility	30**	-			
3. Psychological Inflexibility	05	.51**	-		
4. COVID-19 stress	27*	.45**	.37**	-	
5. Mental health	.31**	70**	42**	-45**	-

*Note*: *n* = 89.\* p < .05; \*\* p < .01; \*\*\* p < .001

## Hypothesis 3.

A standard multiple regression analysis was used to investigate if psychological flexibility and COVID-19 stress will predict third-level students' mental health outcomes. Preliminary analysis was conducted to ensure there were no violations of normality, multicollinearity, and homoscedasticity. The model explained 51.4% of the variation in total mental health and wellbeing, F (3, 85) = 29.12, p < .001. As shown in Table 5, psychological flexibility was the only variable to reach statistical significance and is a strong negative predictor of mental health and well-being ( $\beta = -.618$ , p < .001). Variables Covid-19 stress ( $\beta = .126$ , p = .157) and psychological inflexibility ( $\beta = -.041$ , p = .658) did not reach statistical significance.

#### Table 5.

Standard Multiple regression table for variables psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress, and psychological inflexibility.

Variable	$R^2$	В	SE	β	t	р
	51.4%					
Psychological flexibility		35	.05	618	-6.38	.000***
COVID-19 stress		18	.16	126	-1.43	.157
Psychological inflexibility		07	.14	041	45	.658

*Note:* n = 89.  $R^2$  (R squared), B (unstandardised beta value), SE (standard error),  $\beta$  (standardised beta value)\* p < .05; \*\* p < .01; \*\*\* p < .001

#### Hypothesis 4.

A two-way between-groups ANOVA was conducted to explore the impact of gender and year of college on mental health and well-being levels. Participants were divided into categories according to gender (Female and Male). Participants were also divided into categories according to their year of college (first, second, third and fourth). The interaction effect between gender and year of college was not significant, F(3, 89) = .02, p = .995. There was no statistically significant main effect for gender, F(1, 89) = .01, p = .909. The main effect for the year of college, F(3, 89) = .08, p = .970, did not reach statistical significance.

A two way between groups ANOVA was conducted to explore the impact of gender and year of college on levels of COVID-19 stress. Participants were divided into categories according to gender (Female and Male). Participants were also divided into categories according to the participant's year of college (first, second, third and fourth). The interaction effect between gender and year of college was not significant, F(3, 89) = 2.04, p = .114. There was no statistically significant main effect for gender, F(1, 89) = 3.76, p = .056. The main effect for the year of college, F(3, 89) = .18, p = .911, did not reach statistical significance.

Results from the correlation analysis should be interpreted with caution and do not infer a causal relationship. Pearson's product correlation coefficient indicated that psychological flexibility is associated with lower scores for mental health, and higher levels of psychological flexibility can also be associated with higher levels of COVID-19 stress. Greater scores in COVID-19 stress were also associated with lower scores in mental health. Higher scores of COVID-19 stress were associated with higher scores in psychological inflexibility. As individuals scored higher in psychological flexibility, scores also increased for psychological inflexibility. Spearman's Rho Correlation coefficient also indicated that as age increased, scores in psychological flexibility decreased. As age increased within the current research study, COVID-19 stress scores decreased. Higher scores for age were associated with higher mental health and well-being scores. The analysis concluded that as COVID-19 stress increased, scores in psychological inflexibility also increased. Higher scores for psychological inflexibility were also associated with lower mental health and wellbeing scores. Results from the standard multiple regression indicated that the model explained a large variance in mental health and well-being scores (51.4%), indicating that psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility, and COVID-19 stress contributed significantly to mental well-being scores. Psychological flexibility was the only variable to reach statistical significance and was a strong negative predictor of mental health and wellbeing. COVID-19 stress, and psychological inflexibility were not significant predictors of mental health and well-being in the current study. Results from the two-way between ANOVAs indicate that students did not differ by year of college and gender in relation to

COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being as the interaction effect and the main effect were not significant within the current study.

#### Discussion

The current study aimed to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health outcomes for third level education students in Ireland and aimed to investigate a significant relationship between psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health and well-being. Based on previous literature, this study also aimed to investigate a relationship among the variables age, psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and mental health while also aiming to identify if psychological inflexibility, psychological flexibility, and COVID-19 stress were predictors of mental health outcomes among third level students. The study also aimed to identify significant differences among gender and college year groups in relation to COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes. Four Hypotheses were formulated throughout this research based on previous literature.

It was first hypothesised that there would be a relationship between psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes among third level education students. The first hypothesis was explored using a Pearson's product correlational coefficient matrix analysis and indicated that as levels of COVID-19 stress increased, scores in mental health and well-being decreased. This finding is consistent with numerous studies that suggest COVID-19 stress negatively impacted third-level students' mental health (Al-Rabiaah et al., 2020; Burns et al., 2020; Kecojevic et al., 2020; Kumar & Nayar. 2020). Results indicate that as psychological flexibility increases, COVID-19 stress also increases. This finding is inconsistent with previous literature, which found that psychological flexibility was an influential protective factor for distress during the COVID-19 pandemic (Browne et al., 2022; Chong et al., 2021). The analysis also found that as scores in psychological inflexibility increased, scores for COVID-19 stress also increased. Results also suggested that higher scores for psychological inflexibility resulted in lower mental health and well-being scores. Findings indicated that as psychological flexibility increased, flexibility increased, health and well-being scores.

mental health and well-being decreased. This result is inconsistent with previous literature, which suggests psychological flexibility can promote positive mental health and well-being (Lucas & Moore, 2019). The inconsistent findings may be due to larger sample sizes in previous research and methodological differences. The Warwick- Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMBWS) scale is a well-established and reliable scale that has been distributed among Irish third-level students; however, research suggests that individuals experiencing negative emotions can relate more adequately to negatively phrased items, unlike the positively phrased scale used in this study (Lindwall et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2020).

The second hypothesis aimed to identify significant relationships among the variables age, COVID-19 stress, psychological flexibility, and mental health and well-being, which was explored using a Spearman's Rho correlation coefficient matrix, and results should be interpreted with caution. As scores in age increased, psychological flexibility scores decreased, consistent with the limited research investigating this relationship (Viglund et al., 2013; Boman et al., 2017). Results concluded that as age increased, COVID-19 stress scores decreased. This conclusion is inconsistent with previous research that indicated older adults were also susceptible to COVID-19 stress (Mistry et al., 2021; Wu, 2020). This inconsistent finding could be partially due to the sample population as the average age within the study was 29 and failed to recruit participants over the age of 60 who were considered older adults in previous literature (Janiri et al., 2020). There was no significant correlation between age and psychological inflexibility in the current study. Results also indicated that mental health scores increased as age scores increased. This finding is consistent with previous literature that suggests younger adults are more susceptible to developing adverse mental health outcomes (Varma et al., 2021). Results surprisingly found that as psychological flexibility scores increased, psychological inflexibility scores also increased, which is inconsistent with

previous literature and homogeneity among the questions could be the reason for this. The analysis also found that as scores in psychological inflexibility increased, scores in COVID-19 stress increased, which is consistent with previous literature (Hernández-López et al., 2021). Results indicated that as scores in psychological inflexibility increased, scores in mental health and well-being decreased, which is consistent with a systematic review that identified psychological inflexibility as a mediator of adverse mental health outcomes during the COVID19 pandemic (Salari et al., 2020).

The third hypothesis used standard multiple regression to identify if psychological flexibility, psychological inflexibility, and COVID-19 stress were predictors of mental health and well-being scores. The final model accounted for 51.4% of the variance, and psychological flexibility was the only predictor variable to reach statistical significance and was a strong, negative unique predictor (-.62) of mental health scores. This result would indicate that as scores in psychological flexibility increased, scores in mental health and wellbeing decreased, which is strongly inconsistent with previous literature (Marshall & Brockman, 2016; Tyndall et al., 2020). A complimentary measurement of well-being such as life satisfaction and burnout may have been appropriate to use in conjunction with the WEMBWS (Lucas & Moore, 2019). Longitudinal studies identified that the COVID-19 pandemic may have been impactful among different aspects of well-being, which could have influenced conflicting results with previous literature (Prudenzi et al., 2022). The variables psychological inflexibility and COVID-19 stress did not reach statistical significance and were not associated with any changes to mental health and well-being scores which is inconsistent with previous literature.

It was lastly hypothesised that there would be significant differences between year groups and gender in relation to COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes. 2 x 2-way between-group ANOVAs were conducted for analysis, and results indicate that there were no

differences in gender and year groups in relation to COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes. These results are inconsistent with previous literature that suggested students in their final year of college were more susceptible to adverse mental health outcomes and COVID-19 stress (Deng et al., 2021). This finding could be partially due to the methodology used within the study. The COVID-19 student stress scale (CSSQ) only possessed six items in the current study as one question was left out of the analysis. Cronbach's alpha for the current study nevertheless indicated excellent internal reliability. The CSSQ has also not been previously investigated among third level students within Ireland and therefore may not have been an appropriate measure. A more culturally validated measurement may provide a more robust analysis. Participants also took part in the study when the COVID-19 restrictions began to ease within Ireland, possibly influencing scores related to COVID-19 stress (Rainford et al., 2022). Based on the concluding results from analysis within the study, hypotheses 1, 2 and 3 can be partially accepted. The fourth hypothesis is rejected within the current study.

The current study was the first to investigate levels of COVID-19 stress among a general student population within Ireland. This study expands upon previous research that identifies the COVID-19 pandemic as a prolonged stressful experience that can exacerbate levels of psychological distress. Literature has continuously reiterated the importance of protective factors such as social support, which can mitigate the impact of distressing situations and possibly prevent the formation of psychological disorders. While the literature emphasises the importance of social support among third-level education students and peers as a protective factor in preventing adverse mental health outcomes, the COVID-19 pandemic highlighted the frailty of reliance on peer support when contact was limited to online environments, and socialisation was restricted. Although individuals could communicate and connect with support systems via technology, it has been suggested that prolonged screen
time can negatively impact mental health among young adults (Allen et al., 2019; Rahman et al., 2020). Qualitative analysis identified that individuals felt like a burden among their peers and refrained from overtly vocalising their mental health difficulties during the lockdown (Dedryver & Knai, 2021). Individuals have also reported experiencing social media fatigue, anxiety, and depression due to time spent online and communicating primarily through technology (Cockerham et al., 2021). Future research could conduct qualitative research among third-level education students in Ireland, providing a more in-depth understanding of mental health experiences and outcomes during these challenging times and the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic among this population (Hammarberg et al., 2016). In addition, future research could also investigate the reliance on social media and networking sites for communication and support among peers to develop a more thorough understanding of how impactful the changes to social support were during the COVID-19 pandemic and if this was an influential component among COVID-19 stress among third-level education students.

The significant correlation between COVID-19 stress and mental health outcomes was not reflected in the more robust standard multiple regression analysis. This finding would indicate that although there is a significant relationship among the two variables, a confounding variable such as the cross-sectional design of the study could have been a factor in the non-significant result obtained within the analysis. The current study's design did not facilitate the ability to directly capture the experience of lockdowns and isolation regarding their influence on mental health. As society begins to reopen and reconnect with peers in third-level education, they may experience a new appreciation of socialisation among peers. The return to "normal" and physically reconnecting with the previous support system may have influenced the non-significant result of COVID-19 stress as a unique predictor of mental health outcomes and could explain the low prevalence of COVID-19 stress within the current sample population (O'Donnell et al., 2022).

Results have indicated that high levels of psychological inflexibility are negatively correlated with mental health scores, and future research should identify if this can be replicated in a robust measure among a larger sample. Although high levels of psychological flexibility predicted adverse mental health and well-being scores in the current study, this contrasts with numerous studies that have identified psychological flexibility as an influential component in predicting positive mental health outcomes during the COVID-19 pandemic (Dawson & Golijani-Moghaddam, 2020; Prudenzi et al., 2022; Tindle & Moustafa, 2021). The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted societal frailty that needs further research to understand the extent of the impact on mental health outcomes among vulnerable populations such as third-level education students. Research can only benefit from the further investigation regarding protective psychological factors to improve coping and resiliency among this sample population during challenging times when socialisation and physical contact is prohibited.

## **Practical implications.**

The present study did not conclude results in congruence with previous literature that argues psychological flexibility can be a unique predictor of positive mental health. However, psychological flexibility, COVID-19 stress and psychological inflexibility as a whole model predicted a large amount of variance in mental health and well-being scores. This finding identifies that the three possible predictors explain a significant impact on mental health and well-being scores. Student support services within third level education institutions in Ireland should adopt a more proactive response to mental health and well-being among the student population. Guest speakers addressing mental health within campuses can promote an environment that enables students to vocalise any distress they may be experiencing and prevents stigma associated with mental health (Perron et al., 2011; Theriot, 2013). The HSE has recently launched the application Silver Cloud, an online CBT platform that can help individuals with feelings of anxiety or depression if a conventional treatment method cannot be accessed. Currently, not all third-level institutions in Ireland are offering this service free of charge to their student population despite the evidence that it has been a beneficial source for students experiencing mental health difficulties, with a reported improvement rate of 65% among users (Richards et al., 2020). Promoting mental health services free of charge, such as Silver Cloud, could eliminate the financial burden of mental health resources, benefiting the student population. Literature states that third-level students within Ireland are vulnerable to mental health distress (Union of Students in Ireland, 2019). Services such as Silver Cloud could be beneficial if resources such as face to face counselling cannot be accommodated in the future, as was experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic.

## Strengths and Limitations.

A limitation of the current study is the reliance on self-report scales utilised throughout the study, which could have introduced response bias within the study (Haeffel & Howard, 2010). Participants within the study may have selected answers that they believed to be more socially acceptable. Although the number of participants reached acceptable data saturation in the current study, a larger sample size within the current study could have also identified possible outliers within the sample. An unequal variance among gender could have possibly influenced contrasting results with previous literature. As the study's design was cross-sectional, this could have influenced the ability to capture direct feelings from participants as confounding variables such as the reopening of society may have influenced results. The sample had a mean score of (M = 14.87) for COVID-19 stress, indicating that COVID-19 stress was not strongly represented in the current sample and could have possibly influenced scores. The measurement of mental health and well-being could have been improved with complementary measures to investigate different aspects of well-being (Tyndall et al., 2020). Future research should conduct qualitative and longitudinal analysis to understand students' personal experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic and the possible long-term impact on mental health, as suggested by previous literature (Liu et al., 2012).

The current study had many strengths and was the first study to investigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the general population of third-level education students within Ireland to infer generalisability. Previous research has primarily investigated sub-populations of the student population. The current sample had a mean age of (M =29), and research has shown that young adults under the age of thirty-five were more susceptible to psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic (Huang & Zho, 2020). A more established measurement of COVID-19 stress may have concluded different results within the current study as previous research has identified this age group as a target population where it would be expected to see congruent results with the literature. There was a relatively equal variance among the four different year groups, which is a strength of the current study, and possible statistical differences may have been identified due to this strength. A simple mathematical equation was also designed within the study to increase participants' engagement and prevent repetitive selection among responses.

## Conclusion

Overall, it can be inferred that the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted mental health among the general population and particularly among vulnerable groups such as third-level education students. The current study has identified relationships between COVID-19 stress and adverse mental health outcomes, and future research should establish a more robust measure to explore this relationship further. Qualitative and longitudinal studies could offer further understanding regarding the relationship between COVID-19 stress and mental health among third level students. Psychological inflexibility, psychological flexibility, and COVID- 19 stress explained significant variance in mental health and well-being scores, indicating that all variables together significantly impacted mental health. Although the current study identified psychological flexibility as a predictor of adverse mental health and well-being scores, substantial research contradicts this finding, and results could be due to methodology or confounding variables within the current study, future research should utilize appropriate measures and control for confounding variables.

"Mental health is not merely the absence of mental illness." (World Health Organisation, 2004, p.11). Providing accessible mental health and well-being resources within third-level education institutions could help mitigate the development of adverse mental health outcomes, particularly as a precautionary measure if physical resources are prohibited in the future (Browning et al., 2021). Ireland currently has one of the highest rates of mental illness among young adults within Europe (O'Connor et al., 2020), which should be recognised by all education institutions and appropriate prevention measures put in place to mitigate adverse outcomes.

#### References

- Adewuya, A., Ola, B., Aloba, O., Mapayi, B., & Oginni, O. (2006). Depression amongst Nigerian university students. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41(8), 674-678. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-006-0068-9</u>
- Ali, W. (2020). Online and remote learning in higher education institutes: a necessity in light of COVID-19 pandemic. *High. Educ. Stud.* 10, 16–25. https://doi.org/10.5539/hes.v10n3p16
- Al-Hanawi, M., Mwale, M., Alshareef, N., Qattan, A., Angawi, K., Almubark, R., &
  Alsharqi, O. (2020). Psychological Distress Amongst Health Workers and the General
  Public During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Saudi Arabia. *Risk Management and Healthcare Policy*, 13, 733-742. https://doi.org/10.2147/rmhp.s264037
- Ali, S., Maguire, S., Marks, E., Doyle, M., & Sheehy, C. (2020). Psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on healthcare workers at acute hospital settings in the South-East of Ireland: an observational cohort multicentre study. *BMJ Open*, *10*(12), e042930. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042930
- Allen, M., Walter, E., & Swann, C. (2019). Sedentary behaviour and risk of anxiety: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 242, 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2018.08.081
- Almendingen, K., Morseth, M., Gjølstad, E., Brevik, A., & Tørris, C. (2021). Student's experiences with online teaching following COVID-19 lockdown: A mixed methods explorative study. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(8), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0250378

Al-Rabiaah, A., Temsah, M., Al-Eyadhy, A., Hasan, G., Al-Zamil, F., & Al-Subaie, S. et al. (2020). Middle East Respiratory Syndrome-Corona Virus (MERS-CoV) associated stress among medical students at a university teaching hospital in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, *13*(5), 687-691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2020.01.005

- Avery, E. (2017). Public information officers' social media monitoring during the Zika virus crisis, a global health threat surrounded by public uncertainty. Public Relations Review, 43(3), 468-476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.02.018</u>
- Bayram, N., & Bilgel, N. (2008). The prevalence and socio-demographic correlations of depression, anxiety, and stress among a group of university students. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *43*(8), 667-672.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-008-0345-x
- Blanco, C., Okuda, M., Wright, C., Hasin, D., Grant, B., Liu, S., & Olfson, M. (2008).
   Mental Health of College Students and Their Non–College-Attending Peers. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 65(12), 1429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.65.12.1429</u>
- Boman, E., Lundman, B., Nygren, B., Årestedt, K., & Santamäki Fischer, R. (2017). Inner strength and its relationship to health threats in ageing-A cross-sectional study among community-dwelling older women. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 73(11), 2720-2729. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13341
- Brooks, S., Webster, R., Smith, L., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., & Rubin,
  G.(2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet*, 395(10227), 912-920. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30460-8</u>

- Browne, A., Stafford, O., Berry, A., Murphy, E., Taylor, L., & Shevlin, M. et al. (2022).
   Psychological Flexibility Mediates Wellbeing for People with Adverse Childhood
   Experiences during COVID-19. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 11(2), 377.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11020377">https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11020377</a>
- Browning, M., Larson, L., Sharaievska, I., Rigolon, A., McAnirlin, O., & Mullenbach, L. et al. (2021). Psychological impacts from COVID-19 among university students: Risk factors across seven states in the United States. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(1), e0245327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0245327</u>
- Burke, T., Berry, A., Taylor, L., Stafford, O., Murphy, E., & Shevlin, M. et al. (2020).
  Increased Psychological Distress during COVID-19 and Quarantine in Ireland: A National Survey. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(11), 3481.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9113481
- Burns, D., Dagnall, N., & Holt, M. (2020). Assessing the Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Student Wellbeing at Universities in the United Kingdom: A Conceptual Analysis. *Frontiers In Education*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2020.582882</u>
- Cao, W., Fang, Z., Hou, G., Han, M., Xu, X., Dong, J., & Zheng, J. (2020). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Research*, 287, 112934.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112934
- Chatmon, B. (2020). Males and Mental Health Stigma. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *14*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988320949322</u>
- Chen, B., Sun, J., & Feng, Y. (2020). How Have COVID-19 Isolation Policies Affected Young People's Mental Health? – Evidence from Chinese College Students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01529</u>

- Cheng, C., Huang J., Liang B. (2014). Psychological Health Diathesis Assessment System: A Nationwide Survey of Resilient Trait Scale for Chinese Adults. *Studies of Psychology and Behaviour*, 12(6): 735-742.
- Cheng, S., Chong, G., Chang, S., Wong, C., Wong, C., Wong, M., & Wong, K. (2006).
  Adjustment to severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS): Roles of appraisal and post-traumatic growth. *Psychology & Health*, *21*(3), 301-317.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/14768320500286450
- Chong, Y., Chien, W., Cheng, H., Kassianos, A., Gloster, A., & Karekla, M. (2021). Can psychological flexibility and prosociality mitigate illness perceptions toward COVID-19 on mental health? A cross-sectional study among Hong Kong adults. *Globalization and Health*, 17(1), 1-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00692-6</u>
- Cockerham, D., Lin, L., Ndolo, S., & Schwartz, M. (2021). Voices of the students:
  Adolescent well-being and social interactions during the emergent shift to online
  learning environments. *Education and Information Technologies*, *26*(6), 7523-7541.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10601-4
- Crawford, J., Butler-Henderson, K., Rudolph, J., Malkawi, B., Glowatz, M., & Burton, R. et al. (2020). COVID-19: 20 countries' higher education intra-period digital pedagogy responses. *1*, *3*(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2020.3.1.7</u>
- Cucinotta, D., & Vanelli, M. (2020). WHO Declares COVID-19 a Pandemic. *Acta biomedica : Atenei Parmensis*, 91(1), 157–160. <u>https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v91i1.9397</u>
- Dawson, D., & Golijani-Moghaddam, N. (2020). COVID-19: Psychological flexibility, coping, mental health, and wellbeing in the UK during the pandemic. *Journal Of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *17*, 126-134.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.07.010

- Dedryver, C., & Knai, C. (2021). 'It's Easily the Lowest I've Ever, Ever Got to': A
  Qualitative Study of Young Adults' Social Isolation during the COVID-19
  Lockdowns in the UK. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(22), 11777. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182211777
- Deng, J., Zhou, F., Hou, W., Silver, Z., Wong, C., & Chang, O. et al. (2021). The prevalence of depressive symptoms, anxiety symptoms and sleep disturbance in higher education students during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research*, *301*(113863), 1-20.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113863
- Donovan, N., & Blazer, D. (2020). Social Isolation and Loneliness in Older Adults: Review and Commentary of a National Academies Report. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 28(12), 1233-1244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2020.08.005</u>
- Elmer, T., Mepham, K., & Stadtfeld, C. (2020). Students under lockdown: Comparisons of students' social networks and mental health before and during the COVID-19 crisis in Switzerland. *PLOS ONE*, 15(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0236337</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.G., Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioural, and biomedical sciences. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 39, 175-191, doi:10.3758/bf03193146.
- Francis, A., Dawson, D., & Golijani-Moghaddam, N. (2016). The development and validation of the Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT). *Journal Of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 5(3), 134-145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2016.05.003</u>

- Fu, W., Yan, S., Zong, Q., Anderson-Luxford, D., Song, X., Lv, Z., & Lv, C. (2021). Mental health of college students during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 280(3), 7-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.032</u>
- Gao, J., Zheng, P., Jia, Y., Chen, H., Mao, Y., & Chen, S. et al. (2020). Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(4), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231924
- Gavin, B., Lyne, J., & McNicholas, F. (2020). Mental health and the COVID-19 pandemic. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 37(3), 156-158. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2020.72
- Ge, F., Zhang, D., Wu, L., & Mu, H. (2020). Predicting Psychological State Among Chinese Undergraduate Students in the COVID-19 Epidemic: A Longitudinal Study Using a Machine Learning. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, *16*(1), 2111-2118. https://doi.org/10.2147/ndt.s262004
- Gloster, A., Meyer, A., & Lieb, R. (2017). Psychological flexibility as a malleable public health target: Evidence from a representative sample. *Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 6(2), 166-171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2017.02.003
- Gloster, A., Block, V., Klotsche, J., Villanueva, J., Rinner, M., & Benoy, C. et al. (2021).
  Psy-Flex: A contextually sensitive measure of psychological flexibility. *Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 22, 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2021.09.001
- Glowacz, F., & Schmits, E. (2020). Psychological distress during the COVID-19 lockdown: The young adults most at risk. *Psychiatry Research*, 293(3), 113486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113486

- Gómez-Salgado, J., Andrés-Villas, M., Domínguez-Salas, S., Díaz-Milanés, D., & Ruiz-Frutos, C. (2020). Related Health Factors of Psychological Distress During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Spain. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(11), 3947. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113947</u>
- Haeffel, G., & Howard, G. (2010). Self-Report: Psychology's Four-Letter Word. The American Journal of Psychology, 123(2), 181-188. https://doi.org/10.5406/amerjpsyc.123.2.0181
- Hammarberg, K., Kirkman, M., & de Lacey, S. (2016). Qualitative research methods: when to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, 31(3), 498-501. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Hawley, S., ThrivikramanB, J., NoveckC, N., St.Romain, T., Ludy, M., & Barnhart, L. et al. (2021). Concerns of College Students during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Thematic Perspectives from the United States, Asia, and Europe. *Journal of Applied Learning & Teaching*, 4(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.37074/jalt.2021.4.1.10</u>
- Hayes, S., Luoma, J., Bond, F., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Model, processes, and outcomes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(1), 1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.06.006</u>
- Hefner, J., & Eisenberg, D. (2009). Social support and mental health among college students. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 79(4), 491-499.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016918">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016918</a>
- Hernández-López, M., Cepeda-Benito, A., Díaz-Pavón, P., & Rodríguez-Valverde, M.
  (2021). Psychological inflexibility and mental health symptoms during the COVID-19
  lockdown in Spain: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 19(3), 42-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.12.002

- Holmes, E., O'Connor, R., Perry, V., Tracey, I., Wessely, S., & Arseneault, L. et al. (2020).
  Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(6), 547-560.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30168-1">https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30168-1</a>
- Holt-Lunstad, J., Smith, T., Baker, M., Harris, T., & Stephenson, D. (2015). Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 10(2), 227-237. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691614568352
- Huang, Y., & Zhao, N. (2020). Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Research*, 288(1), 1-21.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112954
- Huang, L., Lei, W., Xu, F., Liu, H., & Yu, L. (2020). Emotional responses and coping strategies in nurses and nursing students during Covid-19 outbreak: A comparative study. *PLOS ONE*, 15(8), e0237303. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0237303</u>
- Hurst, C., Baranik, L., & Daniel, F. (2012). College Student Stressors: A Review of the Qualitative Research. *Stress And Health*, 29, 275-285. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2465
- Janiri, D., Kotzalidis, G., Giuseppin, G., Molinaro, M., Modica, M., & Montanari, S. et al. (2020). Psychological Distress After Covid-19 Recovery: Reciprocal Effects with Temperament and Emotional Dysregulation. An Exploratory Study of Patients Over 60 Years of Age Assessed in a Post-acute Care Service. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.590135

- Johnson, D., & Whisman, M. (2013). Gender differences in rumination: A metaanalysis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 55(4), 367-374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2013.03.019
- Karwig G, Chambers D, Murphy F (2014). Reaching Out in College: Help-Seeking at Third Level in Ireland (<u>https://www.pchei.ie/images/reachout/Reaching-Out-in-College-</u> research-report-2016-HSE-ReachOut-PCHEI-USI.pdf) Accessed 18 December 2021.
- Kecojevic, A., Basch, C., Sullivan, M., & Davi, N. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on mental health of undergraduate students in New Jersey, cross-sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(9), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239696</u>
- Kelly, B. (2021). Impact of Covid-19 on Mental Health in Ireland: Evidence to Date. Irish Medical Journal, 113(214), 1-6. <u>https://hospitalprofessionalnews.ie/2021/08/31/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-the-mental-health-of-healthcare-workers-what-is-the-evidence/</u>
- Kemp, N., & Grieve, R. (2014). Face-to-face or face-to-screen? Undergraduates' opinions and test performance in classroom vs. online learning. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5(1278), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01278
- Kılıç, T., Bostan, S., Erdem, R., Öztürk, Y., & Yılmaz, A. (2020). The Effect of COVID-19 Pandemic on the Turkish Society. *Electronic Journal of General Medicine*, 17(6), em237. <u>https://doi.org/10.29333/ejgm/7944</u>
- Kumar, A., & Nayar, K. (2020). COVID 19 and its mental health consequences. *Journal of Mental Health*, 30(1), 1-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2020.1757052</u>

- Lahav, Y. (2020). Psychological distress related to COVID-19 The contribution of continuous traumatic stress. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 129-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.141</u>
- Levin, M., MacLane, C., Daflos, S., Seeley, J., Hayes, S., Biglan, A., & Pistorello, J. (2014). Examining psychological inflexibility as a transdiagnostic process across psychological disorders. *Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 3(3), 155-163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2014.06.003</u>
- Lindwall, M., Barkoukis, V., Grano, C., Lucidi, F., Raudsepp, L., Liukkonen, J., & Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C. (2012). Method Effects: The Problem with Negatively Versus Positively Keyed Items. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 94(2), 196-204. https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2011.645936
- Liu, X., Kakade, M., Fuller, C., Fan, B., Fang, Y., & Kong, J. et al. (2012). Depression after exposure to stressful events: lessons learned from the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 53(1), 15-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.02.003
- Looi, M. (2020). Covid-19: Is a second wave hitting Europe?. *BMJ*, *5*(371), 1-2. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4113
- Lucas, J., & Moore, K. (2019). Psychological flexibility: positive implications for mental health and life satisfaction. *Health Promotion International*, 35(2), 312-320. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/daz036
- Mak, I., Chu, C., Pan, P., Yiu, M., & Chan, V. (2009). Long-term psychiatric morbidities among SARS survivors. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 31(4), 318-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.03.001</u>

Marshal E.J., Brockman R.N. The relationships between psychological flexibility, selfcompassion, and emotional well-being. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy*. 2016;30(1):60–72. doi: 10.1891/0889-8391.30.1.6

- McCracken, L., Badinlou, F., Buhrman, M., & Brocki, K. (2021). The role of psychological flexibility in the context of COVID-19: Associations with depression, anxiety, and insomnia. *Journal of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 19, 28-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.11.003</u>
- Mistry, S., Ali, A., Akther, F., Yadav, U., & Harris, M. (2021). Exploring fear of COVID-19 and its correlates among older adults in Bangladesh. *Globalization and Health*, 17(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00698-0
- O'Byrne, L., Gavin, B., & McNicholas, F. (2020). Medical students and COVID-19: the need for pandemic preparedness. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, 46(9), 623-626. https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2020-106353
- O'Connor, D., Aggleton, J., Chakrabarti, B., Cooper, C., Creswell, C., & Dunsmuir, S. et al. (2020). Research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond: A call to action for psychological science. *British Journal of Psychology*, *111*(4), 603-629. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12468
- O'Connor, K., Wrigley, M., Jennings, R., Hill, M., & Niazi, A. (2020). Mental health impacts of COVID-19 in Ireland and the need for a secondary care mental health service response. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 38(2), 99-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2020.64</u>
- O'Donnell, J., Cárdenas, D., Orazani, N., Evans, A., & Reynolds, K. (2022). The longitudinal effect of COVID-19 infections and lockdown on mental health and the protective

effect of neighbourhood social relations. *Social Science & Amp; Medicine*, 297(4), 114821. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2022.114821

- Pakenham, K., Landi, G., Boccolini, G., Furlani, A., Grandi, S., & Tossani, E. (2020). The moderating roles of psychological flexibility and inflexibility on the mental health impacts of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown in Italy. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 17, 109-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.07.003</u>
- Perron, B., Grahovac, I., Uppal, J., Granillo, T., Shutter, J., & Porter, C. (2011). Supporting Students in Recovery on College Campuses: Opportunities for Student Affairs
  Professionals. *Journal Of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 48(1), 47-64. https://doi.org/10.2202/1949-6605.6226
- Pierce, M., Hope, H., Ford, T., Hatch, S., Hotopf, M., & John, A. et al. (2020). Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal probability sample survey of the UK population. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7(10), 883-892. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(20)30308-4</u>
- Polychronopoulou, A., & Divaris, K. (2005). Perceived Sources of Stress Among Greek Dental Students. *Journal of Dental Education*, 69(6), 687-692. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.0022-0337.2005.69.6.tb03952.x
- Prudenzi, A., Graham, C., Rogerson, O., & O'Connor, D. (2022). Mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: exploring the role of psychological flexibility and stress-related variables. *Psychology & Health*, 5(3), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2021.2020272
- Qiu, J., Shen, B., Zhao, M., Wang, Z., Xie, B., & Xu, Y. (2020). A nationwide survey of psychological distress among Chinese people in the COVID-19 epidemic:

Implications and policy recommendations. General Psychiatry, 33(2), 1-3. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100213

- Rabei, S., Ramadan, S., & Abdallah, N. (2020). Self-efficacy and future anxiety among students of nursing and education colleges of Helwan University. *Middle East Current Psychiatry*, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s43045-020-00049-6
- Radi, G., Diotallevi, F., Campanati, A., & Offidani, A. (2020). Global coronavirus pandemic (2019-nCOV): implication for an Italian medium size dermatological clinic of an II level hospital. *Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology*, 34(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.16386
- Rahman, M., Hoque, N., Alif, S., Salehin, M., Islam, S., & Banik, B. et al. (2020). Factors associated with psychological distress, fear and coping strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic in Australia. *Globalization And Health*, 16(1), 1-15.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00624-w">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00624-w</a>
- Rainford, A., Moran, S., McMahon, E., Fahy, Y., McDonald, C., & Hallahan, B. (2022). A longitudinal evaluation of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on a cohort of patients treated with clozapine. *Irish Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 14(1), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1017/ipm.2021.84
- Rens, E., Smith, P., Nicaise, P., Lorant, V., & Van den Broeck, K. (2021). Mental Distress and Its Contributing Factors Among Young People During the First Wave of COVID-19: A Belgian Survey Study. *Frontiers In Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.575553
- Richards, D., Enrique, A., Eilert, N., Franklin, M., Palacios, J., & Duffy, D. et al. (2020). A pragmatic randomized waitlist-controlled effectiveness and cost-effectiveness trial of

digital interventions for depression and anxiety. *Npj Digital Medicine*, *3*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-0293-8

- Ritsner, M., Ponizovsky, A., Nechamkin, Y., & Modai, I. (2001). Gender differences in psychosocial risk factors for psychological distress among immigrants. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *42*(2), 151-160. https://doi.org/10.1053/comp.2001.19750
- Rogers, K.D., Dodds, C., Campbell, M. Young, A. (2018). The validation of the Short
   Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (SWEMWBS) with Deaf British Sign
   Language users in the UK. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 16, 145 (2018).
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-0976-x">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-018-0976-x</a>
- Roques, L., Klein, E., Papaïx, J., Sar, A., & Soubeyrand, S. (2020). Impact of Lockdown on the Epidemic Dynamics of COVID-19 in France. *Frontiers In Medicine*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2020.00274
- Roudsari, A. B. P., Peyravi, H., & Abedian, A. (2005). Investigating relationship between satisfaction with life and social support with mental health among freshman students at Tehran University. *Fundamentals of Mental Health*, 7(3), 145-52.
- Sagar-Ouriaghli, I., Brown, J., Tailor, V., & Godfrey, E. (2020). Engaging male students with mental health support: a qualitative focus group study. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09269-1
- Sahu, P. (2020). Closure of Universities Due to Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Impact on Education and Mental Health of Students and Academic Staff. *Cureus*. <u>https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.7541</u>

- Saladino, V., Algeri, D., & Auriemma, V. (2020). The Psychological and Social Impact of Covid-19: New Perspectives of Well-Being. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(5), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577684
- Salari, N., Hosseinian-Far, A., Jalali, R., Vaisi-Raygani, A., Rasoulpoor, S., & Mohammadi, M. et al. (2020). Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Globalization and Health*, *16*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- Sareen, J., Erickson, J., Medved, M., Asmundson, G., Enns, M., & Stein, M. et al. (2013).
  Risk Factors for Post-Injury Mental Health Problems. *Depression and Anxiety*, 30(4), 321-327. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22077
- Sharp, J., & Theiler, S. (2018). A Review of Psychological Distress Among University
  Students: Pervasiveness, Implications and Potential Points of
  Intervention. *International Journal for the Advancement of Counselling*, 40(3), 193212. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10447-018-9321-7
- Shea, P., & Bidjerano, T. (2014). Does online learning impede degree completion? A national study of community college students. *Computers & Education*, 75, 103-111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.02.009</u>
- Shen, X., Yan, S., Cao, H., Feng, J., Lei, Z., & Zhang, W. et al. (2021). Current Status and Associated Factors of Depression and Anxiety Among the Chinese Residents During the Period of Low Transmission of COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.700376
- Shepherd, K., Golijani-Moghaddam, N., & Dawson, D. (2022). ACTing towards better living during COVID-19: The effects of Acceptance and Commitment therapy for

individuals affected by COVID-19. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 23, 98-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2021.12.003

- Singhal, T., 2020. A Review of Coronavirus Disease-2019 (COVID-19). *The Indian Journal* of Paediatrics, 87(4), 281-286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12098-020-03263-6</u>
- Solé, B., Verdolini, N., Amoretti, S., Montejo, L., Rosa, A., & Hogg, B. et al. (2021). Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown in Spain: comparison between community controls and patients with a psychiatric disorder. Preliminary results from the BRIS-MHC STUDY. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 281(3), 13-23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.099
- Son, C., Hegde, S., Smith, A., Wang, X., & Sasangohar, F. (2020). Effects of COVID-19 on College Students' Mental Health in the United States: Interview Survey Study. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 22(9), e21279. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/21279</u>
- Tahara, M., Mashizume, Y., & Takahashi, K. (2020). Coping Mechanisms: Exploring Strategies Utilized by Japanese Healthcare Workers to Reduce Stress and Improve Mental Health during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(1), 131.
   https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18010131
- Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., & Weich, S. et al. (2007). The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 5(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-5-63</u>
- Theriot, M. (2013). Using Popular Media to Reduce New College Students' Mental Illness Stigma. Social Work in Mental Health, 11(2), 118-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332985.2012.745462

- Thiemann, P., Brimicombe, J., Benson, J., & Quince, T. (2020). When investigating depression and anxiety in undergraduate medical students timing of assessment is an important factor a multicentre cross-sectional study. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02029-0</u>
- Thompson, M., Bond, F., & Lloyd, J. (2019). Preliminary psychometric properties of the Everyday Psychological Inflexibility Checklist. *Journal Of Contextual Behavioural Science*, 12, 243-252. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2018.08.004</u>
- Tindle, R., & Moustafa, A. (2021). Psychological distress, social support, and psychological flexibility during COVID-19. *Mental Health Effects of COVID-19*, 5(1), 89-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-824289-6.00012-x</u>
- Tyndall I., Waldeck D., Pancani L., Whelan R., Roche B., Pereira P. (2020). Profiles of psychological flexibility: A latent class analysis of the acceptance and commitment therapy model. *Behavior Modification*. 44(3):365–393. doi: 10.1177/0145445518820036.
- Union of Students in Ireland (2019). USI National Report on Student Mental Health in Third Level Education. Union of Students in Ireland; (<u>https://usi.ie/mentalhealthreport/</u>) Accessed 3 January 2022
- Varma, P., Junge, M., Meaklim, H., & Jackson, M. (2021). Younger people are more vulnerable to stress, anxiety, and depression during COVID-19 pandemic: A global cross-sectional survey. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 109, 110236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110236
- Vernooij-Dassen, M., Verhey, F., & Lapid, M. (2020). The risks of social distancing for older adults: a call to balance. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 32(10), 1235-1237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610220001350</u>

- Viglund, K., Jonsén, E., Lundman, B., Strandberg, G., & Nygren, B. (2013). Inner strength in relation to age, gender, and culture among old people – a cross-sectional population study in two Nordic countries. *Aging & Mental Health*, *17*(8), 1016-1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2013.805401</u>
- Wang, C., & Zhao, H. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Anxiety in Chinese University Students. *Frontiers In Psychology*, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01168</u>
- Wilt, J., Bleidorn, W., & Revelle, W. (2016). Finding a Life Worth Living: Meaning in Life and Graduation from College. *European Journal of Personality*, 30(2), 158-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/per.2046</u>
- World Health Organization. (2004). Promoting mental health : concepts, emerging evidence, practice : summary report / a report from the World Health Organization, Department of Mental Health and Substance Abuse in collaboration with the Victorian Health
   Promotion Foundation and the University of Melbourne. World Health
   Organization. <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42940</u>
- Wong, L., Alias, H., Md Fuzi, A., Omar, I., Mohamad Nor, A., & Tan, M. et al. (2021).
  Escalating progression of mental health disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic:
  Evidence from a nationwide survey. *PLOS ONE*, *16*(3), e0248916.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248916
- Wu, B. (2020). Social isolation and loneliness among older adults in the context of COVID-19: a global challenge. *Global Health Research and Policy*, 5(1), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41256-020-00154-3
- Xiaoming, X., Ming, A., Su, H., Wo, W., Jianmei, C., & Qi, Z. et al. (2020). The psychological status of 8817 hospital workers during COVID-19 Epidemic: A crosssectional study in Chongqing. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 276, 555-561. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.092

- Xiao, H., Zhang, Y., Kong, D., Li, S., & Yang, N. (2020). The Effects of Social Support on Sleep Quality of Medical Staff Treating Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in January and February 2020 in China. *Medical Science Monitor*, 26. <u>https://doi.org/10.12659/msm.923549</u>
  - Xu, D., & Jaggars, S. (2011). The Effectiveness of Distance Education across Virginia's Community Colleges: Evidence from Introductory College-Level Math and English Courses. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 33(3), 360-377.
     <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711413814">https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711413814</a>
- Yu, H., Li, M., Li, Z., Xiang, W., Yuan, Y., & Liu, Y. et al. (2020). Coping style, social support, and psychological distress in the general Chinese population in the early stages of the COVID-19 epidemic. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02826-3
- Zeng, B., Wen, H., & Zhang, J. (2020). How Does the Valence of Wording Affect Features of a Scale? The Method Effects in the Undergraduate Learning Burnout Scale. *Frontiers In Psychology*, 11(5), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.585179
- Zhong, B., Huang, Y., and Liu, Q. (2021). Mental health toll from the Coronavirus: social media usage reveals Wuhan residents' depression and secondary trauma in the COVID-19 outbreak. Comput. Hum. Behav. 114:106524. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020.106524
- Zhu, Z., Liu, Q., Jiang, X., Manandhar, U., Luo, Z., & Zheng, X. et al. (2020). The psychological status of people affected by the COVID-19 outbreak in China. *Journal Of Psychiatric Research*, 129, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.05.026</u>

Zurlo, M., Cattaneo Della Volta, M., & Vallone, F. (2020). COVID-19 Student Stress Questionnaire: Development and Validation of a Questionnaire to Evaluate Students' Stressors Related to the Coronavirus Pandemic Lockdown. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11(57), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.57675

#### Appendix A

Poster for recruitment



# Appendix **B**

# Demographic questionnaire

- 1. Please indicate your Age: \_\_\_\_\_
- 2. Please indicate your Gender:
  - $\circ$  Male ( including trans males).
  - Female ( including trans females).
  - o Non-binary.
  - $\circ$  Other.
- 3. What year of college are you currently enrolled in?
  - o First.
  - o Second.
  - o Third.
  - o Fourth.

#### Appendix C

CompACT, Questionnaire (Francis et al., 2016)

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Strongly	Disagree	Somewhat	Neutral	Somewhat	Agree	Strongly
disagree		disagree		agree		agree

- 1. I try to stay busy to keep thoughts and feelings from coming OE
- 2. I tell myself that I shouldn't have certain thoughts OE
- 3. One of my big goals in life is to be free from painful emotions. OE
- I go out of my way to avoid situations. that might bring difficult thoughts, feelings, and sensations.
   OE
- 5. Even when something is important to me, I'll rarely do it if there is a chance that it will upset me. OE
- 6. I work hard to keep out upsetting feelings. OE
- 7. I can take thoughts and feelings as they come, without attempting to control or avoid them. \* OE
- 8. I get so caught up in my thoughts that I am unable to do the things that I most want to do. OE
- 9. I find it difficult to stay present in the current moment. BA
- 10. Thoughts are just thoughts- they do not control what I do.\* OE
- 11. I rush through meaningful activities without paying attention to them. BA
- 12. I do jobs or tasks automatically without being aware of what I am doing. BA
- 13. I make choices based on what is important to me, even if it is stressful.\* VA
- 14. My values are really reflected in my behaviour \* VA
- 15. I am able to follow my long terms plans including times when progress is slow.\* VA
- 16. I can keep going with something when it's important to me. VA
- 17. I behave in line with my personal values.\* VA
- 18. I undertake things that are meaningful to me, even when I find it hard to do so.\* VA
- 19. I act in ways that are consistent with how I wish to live my life.\* VA
- 20. I can identify the things that really matter to me in life and pursue them.\* VA

- 21. I am willing to fully experience whatever thoughts, feelings and sensations come up for me, without trying to change or defend against them.\* **OE**
- 22. It seems I am "running on automatic" without much awareness of what I'm doing BA
- 23. Even when doing the things that matter to me, I find myself doing them without paying attention. BA

### OE: Open to experience

BA: Behavioural awareness

VA: Valued action

# Appendix D

Warwick- Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (WEMBWS), (Tennant et al., 2007).

1	2	3	4	5
None of the time	Rarely	Some of the time	Often	All of the time.

- 1. I feel optimistic about the future
- 2. I feel useful
- 3. I feel relaxed
- 4. I feel interested in other people
- 5. I have energy to spare
- 6. I deal with problems well
- 7. I am able to think clearly
- 8. I feel good about myself
- 9. I feel close to other people
- 10. I feel confident
- 11. I am able to make my own mind up about things
- 12. I feel loved
- 13. I am interested in new things
- 14. I feel cheerful

# Appendix E

Everyday Psychological Inflexibility Checklist (EPIC). (Thompson et al., 2019).

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Never true	Very	Seldom	Sometimes	Frequently	Almost	Always true
	seldom true	true	true	true	always true	

- 1. I try to avoid thinking about difficult topics [A]
- 2. I find I follow rigid patterns when doing some tasks [BR]
- 3. When awkward thoughts occur, I try and block them out [A]
- 4. Although I have never been told to, I find I perform certain activities in a set order [BR]
- 5. In my personal life I steer clear of conversations that I find uncomfortable [A]
- 6. I notice I do certain everyday tasks in a particular order [BR]
- 7. If unpleasant situations come to mind, I think about something else [A]

# [A], Avoidance

[BR], Behavioural rigidity

# Appendix F

Covid-19 student stress questionnaire (CSSQ), (Zurlo et al., 2020).

Not at allSomewhatModeratelystressfulstressfulstressful	Very stressful Extremely stressful

- 1. How did you perceive the risk of contagion during the Covid19 pandemic?
- 2. How did you perceive the condition of isolation during the Covid19 pandemic?
- 3. How did you perceive the relationships with relatives during the Covid19 pandemic?
- 4. How did you perceive the relationships with your university colleagues during the Covid19 pandemic?
- 5. How did you perceive your relationship with your university lecturers during the Covid19 pandemic?
- 6. How did you perceive your Academic studying experience during the Covid19 pandemic?

## Appendix G

### Information sheet.

Thank you for your interest in participating in this research study.

#### Purpose of the study

I am a final year Psychology student at the National College of Ireland. Part of my final year undergraduate degree requires independent research to be conducted. This research study aims to investigate psychological flexibility and the effects of mental health and wellbeing for third level education students during the Covid19 Pandemic.

The supervisor on this research project is Dr Conor Nolan. Details for Dr Conor Nolan are included in the debriefing sheet.

Please read this information sheet which explains why this particular research is being carried out and what it will involve if you decide to participate in the study. Please feel free to contact me or my supervisor, Dr Conor Nolan, on the contact details that are included at the end of the information sheet and debriefing sheet.

### What will happen during the study?

If you decide to take part in this research, you will be asked to answer an anonymous online questionnaire. A personal computer or mobile phone and internet connection will be needed to take

part in the study. The questions will be short, and the study should not take longer than 10 minutes to complete. The questions will focus on the topics of mental health and the Covid19 pandemic.

#### Can I take part?

Participants who wish to participate in the study must be 18 years or older.

Participants can only participate in the research study if they are currently enrolled in third-level education within Ireland.

### Do I have to take part?

Participation in the study is entirely voluntary. If you choose to take part in the study and then decide to withdraw, you are free to withdraw at any stage without penalty. The data that will be collected is non-identifiable, and your answers will remain anonymous.

If you decide to participate in the study and wish to withdraw during the questionnaires, you can cancel out of the questionnaire and not submit any answers. This will allow you to withdraw from the study, and no data will be collected.

If you submit your answers at the end of the questionnaire, there will be no way for me as a researcher to retrieve this information. Data that will be collected will remain anonymous and non-identifiable to the researcher.

## Risks/ Benefits of taking part in the study

There are no direct benefits for taking part in this undergraduate study.

The questions that will be asked will not be invasive but could cause temporary discomfort or upset, for example, "I feel good about myself".

Professional support services are listed on the debriefing sheet if you need to seek support, and the researcher's details are included at the bottom of this information sheet if you need further information.

If you wish to withdraw from the study during the questionnaire, you can cancel out of the questionnaire at any stage with no penalty, and there will be no data collected from your participation.

By participating in this study, you may contribute to Psychology and our knowledge regarding human behaviour and thought processes.

The Covid19 Pandemic is a unique history in time and gaining research about students' experience in this situation could enable us to implement better interventions throughout third level education if a situation similar to this arises in the future.

#### Will taking part be confidential, and what will happen to my data?

If you wish to participate in the study, the information you provide will be kept completely anonymous. The researcher will be the only person who has access to the information provided, and this information will be non-identifiable.

Once you submit your answers, the researcher will not be able to identify any information provided.

The collected data will form the basis of an undergraduate dissertation which may be stored in the NCI library database. The collected anonymous data will also be presented to NCI students and staff as part of my undergraduate dissertation.

The researcher will retain information that is collected throughout the research project for up to 5 years as per NCI guidelines. The data will be stored on a password-protected laptop, and only the researcher will have access to this.

Please contact me if you need further clarity about the research study or any questions concerning any element of the study.

Researcher: Mairéad O' Farrell

Email address- psychflexstudy@gmail.com

#### Appendix H

### Consent sheet.

Study title: Psychological Flexibility; The Impact of the Covid19 Pandemic for Third Level Education Students in Ireland.

- Informed consent is required to participate in this research study
- It is essential that you have read the information sheet and know the details involved in the research study. Please read the below points before agreeing to participate in the study.
- I understand that I am participating in research for a Psychology undergraduate final year project.
- I am over the age of 18 years old
- I am currently a third level education student in Ireland.
- I have read the information sheet and am aware of the nature of this research study.
- I understand that all data will be kept anonymous throughout the research.

• I understand that I am taking part in a voluntary research study, and I can withdraw at any stage prior to submitting data without penalty.

• I am aware that the data will be non-identifiable after I submit my responses and therefore unable to withdraw data from the research study.

By clicking accept and proceed, I confirm that I am 18 years of age or older, and I am currently a third level education student in Ireland.

I have read and understand the above information. I consent to participate in this study being conducted in the National College of Ireland.

Accept and proceed by clicking the button below that indicates "I consent."

Accept and proceed  $\Box$ 

# Appendix I

# **Simple Mathematical equation**

What is 2 x 4?

- 1. 8
- 2. 12
- 3. 16
- 4. 20

### Appendix J

#### **Debriefing sheet.**

Dear participant, thank you for taking the time to participate in this research study. Your contribution to this research is greatly appreciated. You have taken part in a questionnaire to explore the experiences of third level students throughout the Covid19 Pandemic in regard to mental health.

The data that is collected from participants will be analysed to identify if there are any isolated predictors of negative mental health among participants throughout the Covid19 Pandemic.

There is limited research surrounding this topic in Ireland at the moment. I hope that the contribution of participants will give further insight in regard to the experiences of third level students during this time.

This will hopefully enable more insight and better structures to be put in place if a situation similar to this arises in the future.

If you need any further clarity, information or wish to receive information about the results of the study, please feel free to contact me via email :psychflexstudy@gmail.com

Below, there are resources if you feel that you need support from a professional source

- https://www.aware.ie/support/support-line/
- https://www.mentalhealthireland.ie/get-support/

<sup>•</sup> https://www2.hse.ie/services/mental-health-supports-and-services-during-coronavirus/
• https://spunout.ie/education/college/mental-health-supports-for-people-in-college

Thank you,

Researcher- Mairéad O' Farrell

Email address-psychflexstudy@gmail.com

Supervisor- Dr Conor Nolan

Email address- Conor.Nolan@ncirl.ie

### Appendix K

#### Histogram- Age



## Appendix L

# Mental Health & Wellbeing



# Psychological inflexibility.





## **Covid-19 stress**

Psychological flexibility.

